SEP 3 0 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA] NO. S218197

Plaintiff and Respondent, | COURT OF APPEAL vs. | (H039603.) | (Santa Clara No.: IGNACIO GARCIA, | C1243927.) | Defendant and Appellant. | ]

### APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PETITION FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SANTA CLARA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE HECTOR RAMON, JUDGE, PRESIDING

David D. Martin, #90494
10 Sanderling Court
Sacramento, CA 95833
(916) 999-0200
Fax: 916-999-0091
martindd1@comcast.net
Attorney for Petitioner Ignacio Garcia
In Association with the Sixth
District Appellate Program

TABLE OF CONTENT  Pa	<u>ige</u>

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

By its order dated July 16, 2014, this court has directed that the following issues to be briefed and argued:

Are the conditions of probation mandated by Penal Code section 1203.067, subdivision (b), for persons convicted of specified felony sex offenses - including waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination, required participation in polygraph examinations, and waiver of the psychotherapist-patient privilege - constitutional?

////

////

#### **STATEMENT**

#### A. The Conviction and the Probation Conditions

On January 15, 2013, Garcia pled no contest to two section 288, subdivision (a) charges. On April 24, 2013, the court suspended the sentence, imposed a one year county jail term which was deemed satisfied, and granted probation for three years. (2RT 22-23.)

The disputed probation conditions were as follows:

Probation condition number 12:

The defendant shall waive any privilege against self-incrimination and participate in polygraph examinations, which shall be part of the sex offender management program. . . . (2RT 24-25; CT 55.)

#### Probation condition number 13:

The defendant shall waive any psychotherapist-patient privilege to enable communication between the sex offender management professional and the Probation Officer. . . . (2RT 25; CT 55.)

#### B. Court of Appeal Opinion

The Majority Opinion ("Opinion") held the state could require the probationer to answer questions as part of the sex offender management program and polygraph examinations, but the state would be prohibited from using those statements against the probationer in a separate criminal prosecution. (Opinion 5.) The Opinion construed the Fifth Amendment

waiver as only applying "to the probationer's participation in the sex offender management program." (Opinion 5, fn. 6.) The Opinion found that the waiver of the Fifth Amendment privilege, enforced by the threat of the violation of probation created, the "classic" penalty situation, which prevented probationer's statements from being used against him in a criminal proceeding either directly, or through subsequent use of the statement. (Opinion 7, citing *Minnesota v. Murphy* (1984) 465 U.S. 420, 435 & fn. 7; Opinion 12, fn. 9.) Thus, the Opinion found the waiver of the Fifth Amendment right! "will never result in a violation of the defendant's Fifth Amendment rights." (Opinion at 17.)

In addition, the Opinion held the "right against self-incrimination" cannot be violated "until statements obtained by compulsion are *used* in criminal proceedings against the person from whom the statements were obtained." (Opinion 13 (emphasis in the original), citing *Spielbauer* v. *County of Santa Clara* (2009) 45 Cal. 4th 704, 727; see also Opinion 9-10; *Maldonado v. Superior Court* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1112, 1120; *Chavez v. Martinez* (2003) 538 U.S. 760, 767-769.)

The Opinion viewed the waiver provision as "critical" because it

The Opinion linguistically referred to the Fifth Amendment waiver condition as the "subdivision (b)(3) condition." (Opinion at 17.)

prevents a probationer from refusing to answer questions on self-incrimination grounds. (Opinion 17.)

The Legislature could reasonably conclude that a sex offender who has committed additional unreported sex offenses generally poses a significantly greater risk to the public if he or she is not incarcerated. Similarly, the state has a compelling interest in discovering whether the sex offender is committing additional offenses while on probation. By requiring every sex offender granted probation to make full disclosures and to give up any privilege to refuse to answer the polygraph examiner's questions, the state greatly enhances its ability to manage the serious risks posed by sex offenders who remain free in the community. (Opinion 17.)

The Dissent found that "the Fifth Amendment waiver required by Penal Code section 1203.067, subdivision (b)(3) [is] invalid on its face," and that "the Fifth Amendment does more than permit a defendant to refuse to testify against himself in a criminal trial. It also "privileges [a person] not to answer official questions put to him in any other proceeding, civil or criminal, formal or informal, where the answers might incriminate him in future criminal proceedings." (Dissent at 1-2, citing *Murphy v. Minnesota* (1984) 465 U.S. 420, 426.)

The Dissent would have stricken the words "Waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination and" from subdivision(b)(3). (Dissent at 10.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant disagrees with the Opinion which upheld the probation

waiver of the Fifth Amendment for five separate reasons. First, the Opinion failed to examine the specific language of the provision, rendering an interpretation directly at odds with the actual words of the statute.

Secondly, a probation condition mandating a waiver of the Fifth

Amendment under a threat of a probation violation violated the Fifth

Amendment under long standing federal and state law.

Third, the Opinion's rationale centered upon the "core" Fifth

Amendment right and not the prophylactic right to assert the privilege, that
is, the underlying right which protected the Fifth Amendment right. The
authorities relied upon by the Opinion, by contrast, were only directed to
claims of a violation of the "core" Fifth Amendment right.

Fourth, and perhaps a subset of the third reason, the Opinion failed to address the significant factual differences between the waiver cases that it cited and the waiver in this case. This statute constitutes a widespread assault on the Fifth Amendment right of probationers to which there is no comparable authority, except *State v. Eccles* (Ariz. 1994) 179 Ariz. 226, 227-228, which is all but identical to the present matter. *Eccles* overturned the waiver, a decision the Opinion did not "accept." (Opinion 9.)

Fifth, as the high court observed in *Murphy*, the Fifth Amendment already allows the state to require a probationer to participate in treatment

and answer questions truthfully. (*Minnesota v. Murphy*, *supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 427.) Thus, the Fifth Amendment waiver was overbroad and unnecessary. (*Ibid.*)

Facial vagueness and overbreadth challenges are reviewed de novo. (*In re Shaun R.* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1129, 1143.) A vague or overbroad probation condition may be stricken or, if possible, modified to lawfully achieve an intended legitimate purpose. (*In re E.O.* (2010) 188 Cal.App.4th 1149, 1157; *In re Victor L.* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 902, 916, 921.)

I. THE TRIAL COURT'S IMPOSITION OF PROBATION CONDITIONS PURSUANT TO PENAL CODE SECTIONS 1203.067(b)(3) AND (4), SPECIFICALLY 12 AND 13, VIOLATED GARCIA'S FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS UNDER THE 5th and 14th AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

A. Reviewing Courts Should not Reinterpret Legislative Provisions that are, as Here, Clear and Unambiguous

Subdivision (b)(3) of section 1203.067 requires a "waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination ...." That is as blunt and unambiguous as the English language is capable of being, encompassing a complete waiver of immunity under the Fifth Amendment. By use of the word "any" to modify the term "privilege," its clear meaning precluded any attempts by a probationer, present and future, to seek protection under the self-incrimination clause for compelled statements made during the sex

offender management program. Once the privilege against self-incrimination has been waived, moreover, there is no right to direct or derivative use immunity. (*Chavez v. Martinez, supra,* 538 U.S. at p. 769, fn. 2 (plur. opn. of Thomas, J.)["Once an immunity waiver is signed, the signatory is unable to assert a Fifth Amendment objection to the subsequent use of his statements in a criminal case, even if his statements were in fact compelled.")

"If the plain, commonsense meaning of a statute's words is unambiguous, the plain meaning controls." (Schutte & Koerting, Inc. v. Regional Water Quality Board (2007) 158 Cal.App.4th 1373, 1384.) When interpreting statutes, appellate courts "follow the Legislature's intent, as exhibited by the plain meaning of the actual words of the law .... If the plain language of the statute is clear and unambiguous, our inquiry ends, and we need not embark on judicial construction. [Citations.] If the statutory language contains no ambiguity, the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute governs."

[Citation.]" (Stephens v. County of Tulare (2006) 38 Cal.4th 793, 801–802.)

The statute requires a "waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination." (§ 1203.067, subd. (b)(3).) Basic statutory construction requires any interpretation of the phrase "any privilege against

self-incrimination" be in accord with the well-established definition of that privilege as set forth in Fifth Amendment jurisprudence:

[W]hen a word used in a statute has a well-established legal meaning, it will be given that meaning in construing the statute. This has long been the law of California: 'The rule of construction of statutes is plain. Where they make use of words and phrases of a well-known and definite sense in the law, they are to be received and expounded in the same sense in the statute.'" (Arnett v. Dal Cielo (1996) 14 Cal.4th 4, 19, italics omitted, quoting Harris v. Reynolds (1859) 13 Cal. 514, 518.)

The privilege against self-incrimination is well established and definite under the Fifth Amendment. Thus, the plain language of the statute unambiguously includes a waiver of the probationer's rights under the self-incrimination clause for any statement made during the course of the sex offender management program.

### B. The Presumption of Statutory Intent Cannot Displace Established Federal and State Constitutional Law

The Opinion never suggested any ambiguity as to the condition's language, but nevertheless made the following finding:

This probation condition does not purport to prohibit a probationer from exercising his or her privilege against self-incrimination outside of the sex offender management program. "[I]f reasonably possible the courts must construe a statute to avoid doubts as to its constitutionality." (*People v. Smith* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 251, 259].) As there could be doubts about the constitutionality of imposing a probation condition requiring an unlimited waiver of a probationer's privilege against self-incrimination, we construe the statute's waiver

provision, consistent with the language of the entire statute, to be limited to the probationer's participation in the sex offender management program. (Opinion 5, fn. 6.)

First, the Opinion's finding that the provision "does not purport to prohibit a probationer from exercising his or her privilege against self-incrimination outside of the sex offender management program" failed to address the plain language of the statute. (*Ibid.*) Secondly, the Opinion did not refer to any words or phrases "consistent with the language of the entire statute" to support such a view.

Third, *Smith* was dealing with a provision that *was* ambiguous, whether the provision that "relevant evidence shall not be excluded in any criminal proceeding . . ." applied to cases tried before the enactment of Proposition 8. (*People v. Smith, supra,* 34 Cal.3d at p. 257.) Since the statute in *Smith* was silent on this issue, it was "possible" for *Smith* to make a constitutionally viable interpretation. There was no similar ambiguity here – the language was as straightforward and unambiguous as it was possible to be.

Fourth, the Opinion's construction did not address derivative use of any statements, arguing separately that derivative use of these statements could not be utilized later because of the "classic penalty" exception, citing *Murphy, supra,* 465 U.S. at p. 435.) Yet, the Opinion failed to address

sections of *Murphy* which flatly disallowed such Fifth Amendment waivers in a probation context:

In each of the so-called "penalty" cases, the State not only compelled an individual to appear and testify, but also sought to induce him to forgo the Fifth Amendment privilege by threatening to impose economic or other sanctions "capable of forcing the self-incrimination which the Amendment forbids." (Citation). In most of the cases, the attempt to override the witnesses' privilege proved unsuccessful, and the Court ruled that the State could not constitutionally make good on its prior threat. (Citations). These cases make clear that "a State may not impose substantial penalties because a witness elects to exercise his Fifth Amendment right not to give incriminating testimony against himself." (Murphy, supra, 465 U.S. at p. 435 (emphasis added).)

The presumption the legislature intended to follow the law cannot override established constitutional precedent. Since the condition's Fifth Amendment waiver was unambiguous and unconstitutional, the Minority Opinion's remedy should be applied, that this court should strike the words "Waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination and" from the subdivision. (Dissent at pp. 1-2, 10.)

# B. The Right to Claim the Fifth Amendment in a Probation Situation was Established by the United States Supreme Court in *Minnesota* v. *Murphy*

The United States Supreme Court has held the protection of the self-incrimination clause, unlike the Fifth Amendment, applies to both prisoners and probationers. "A defendant does not lose this protection by

reason of his conviction of a crime; notwithstanding that a defendant is imprisoned or on probation at the time he makes incriminating statements, if those statements are compelled they are inadmissible in a subsequent trial for a crime other than that for which he has been convicted." (*Murphy*, *supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 426.) A blanket waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination would deprive a probationer of the full spectrum of his rights under the self-incrimination clause—even those protections enjoyed by prisoners in custody. (*Baxter v. Palmigiano* (1976) 425 U.S. 308, 316 [prison inmates compelled to testify at disciplinary proceedings must be offered immunity and may not be required to waive it]; *McKune v. Lile* (2002) 536 U.S. 24, 36 (plur. opn. of Kennedy, J.) ["The privilege against self-incrimination does not terminate at the jailhouse door ...."].)

In *Murphy*, Marshall Murphy was prosecuted for criminal sexual conduct. He pleaded guilty to false imprisonment and received three years' probation. (*Murphy*, *supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 422.) The terms of Murphy's probation required him to participate in a treatment program for sexual offenders, to report to his probation officer as directed, and to be truthful with the probation officer "in all matters." (*Ibid.*)

In the course of his treatment, Murphy confessed to raping and murdering a teenage girl seven years earlier. (*Id.* at p. 423.) His treatment

counselor gave this information to the probation officer, who then confronted Murphy with it. (*Murphy*, *supra*, 465 U.S. at pp. 423–424.) Murphy confessed to the probation officer as well, who in turn told the police. (*Id.* at p. 424.) Murphy never invoked the Fifth Amendment and was later indicted for first degree murder. (*Id.* at p. 425.)

The high court found Murphy had voluntarily waived his right against self-incrimination. (*Id.* at p. 429.) *Murphy* first held that the privilege against self-incrimination applies to probationers. (*Murphy, supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 426.) The High Court held that the probation condition requiring Murphy to answer questions truthfully did not, by itself, controvert this right; rather, his obligations were no different from those of any other witness in a proceeding. "The answers of such a witness to questions put to him are not compelled within the meaning of the Fifth Amendment unless the witness is required to answer over his valid claim of the privilege." (*Murphy, supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 427.)

The court then distinguished Murphy's circumstances from cases in which "the State not only compelled an individual to appear and testify, but also sought to induce him to forgo the Fifth Amendment privilege ...." (*Id.* at p. 434, quoting *Lefkowitz v. Cunningham* (1977) 431 U.S. 801, 805 ["a State may not impose substantial penalties because a witness elects to

exercise his Fifth Amendment right not to give incriminating testimony against himself.""]; see Sanitation Men v. Sanitation Comm'r (1968) 392

U.S. 380, 283–284; Gardner v. Broderick (1968) 392 U.S. 273, 278–279.)

"The threat of punishment for reliance on the privilege distinguishes cases of this sort from the ordinary case in which a witness is merely required to appear and give testimony." (Murphy, supra, 465 U.S. at p. 435.) Because the state did not punish Murphy for relying on the privilege or induce him to forgo it, the court found no Fifth Amendment violation. (Murphy, supra, 465 U.S. at p. 436.)

The court also found Murphy could not have reasonably believed that he could be punished for invoking the privilege because the law clearly prohibited such punishment. (*Id.* at p. 438.)

Our decisions have made clear that the State could not constitutionally carry out a threat to revoke probation for the legitimate exercise of the Fifth Amendment privilege. It is not surprising, then, that neither the state court nor any state officer has suggested otherwise. (*Murphy*, *supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 438.)

Thus, *Murphy* explicitly protects a probationer's right to invoke the Fifth Amendment.

This court, following United States Supreme Court precedent, has also declared that "[o]ne cannot be forced to choose between forfeiting the privilege [against self-incrimination], on the one hand, or asserting it and

suffering a penalty for doing do on the other." (*Spielbauer* v. *County of Santa Clara* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 704, 714, citing *Malloy* v. *Hogan* (1964) 378 U.S. 1, 8.) "[I]ncriminating answers may be ... compelled, without violating the privilege, when the person to be examined receives immunity 'coextensive with the scope of the privilege' – i.e., immunity against both direct and 'derivative' criminal use of the statements." (*Spielbauer, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at pp. 714-715, citing *Kastigar v. United States* 1972) 406 U.S. 441, 449-462.)

## C. The Issue Presented by this Probation Condition Concerned the Accompanying Prophylactic Rights that Protect the Fifth Amendment

The Opinion relied on language in *Maldonado* v. *Superior Court*, supra, 53 Cal.4th 1112 for the proposition that the Fifth Amendment is not violated until a defendant's statements are used against him in a criminal proceeding. (Opinion 9-10.) The Opinion's reliance on this language ignores the analytical distinction between a violation of the "core" Fifth Amendment right and a violation of the "prophylactic" protection prohibiting a compelled waiver of immunity as explained in *Maldonado* and *Chavez*.

In Maldonado, this court stated that "a 'core' Fifth Amendment violation is completed, not merely by official extraction of self-incriminatory answers from one who has not waived the privilege, but

only if and when those answers are *used in a criminal proceeding* against the person who gave them." (*Maldonado*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 1128 (emphasis in original).) For this principle, this court relied on *Chavez*, *supra*, 538 U.S. at pp. 766–773 (plur. opn. of Thomas, J.).

In *Chavez*, the United States Supreme Court considered a civil rights lawsuit under 42 United States Code section 1983 by a plaintiff alleging a violation of the Fifth Amendment. Although the plaintiff's statements were compelled, they were never used against him in a criminal prosecution. (*Chavez*, *supra*, 538 U.S. at pp. 763–764.) Justice Thomas, writing for a plurality of justices, characterized the "core" Fifth Amendment privilege as the right not to be a "witness" against oneself in a "criminal case." (*Id.* at pp. 768–769.)

But a majority of justices also affirmed long-standing "prophylactic" or "complementary" protections under the Fifth Amendment that arise prior to and apart from a criminal proceeding. (*Id.* at p. 770 (plur. opn. of Thomas, J.); *id.* at pp. 777–778 (conc. opn. of Souter, J.).) The *Chavez* plurality noted the rule prohibiting a compelled waiver of immunity is one such protection, and is necessary to protect the "core" right against the use of compelled statements in a prosecution.

[For example,] the *Miranda* exclusionary rule . . . serves the Fifth Amendment and sweeps more broadly than the Fifth

Amendment itself. (Citation). Among these rules is an evidentiary privilege that protects witnesses from being forced to give incriminating testimony, even in noncriminal cases, unless that testimony has been immunized from use and derivative use in a future criminal proceeding before it is compelled. (*Chavez, supra,* 538 U.S. at pp. 770-771 (plur. opn. of Thomas, J.), citing *Kastigar v. United States, supra,* 406 U.S. at p. 453; *Maness v. Meyers* (1975) 419 U.S. 449, 461-462.)

"By allowing a witness to insist on an immunity agreement before being compelled to give incriminating testimony in a noncriminal case, the privilege preserves the core Fifth Amendment right from invasion by the use of that compelled testimony in a subsequent criminal case." (*Chavez*, supra, 538 U.S. at p. 771, italics omitted (plur. opn. of Thomas, J.).)

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