### COPY

### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S218197

v.

IGNACIO GARCIA,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H039603 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. C1243927 The Honorable Hector Ramon, Judge

NOV 1 4 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeal correctly construed section 1203.067, subdivision (b)(3), as a narrow, context-specific waiver of the privilege solely for purposes of probation supervision and treatment. Under the canon of constitutional avoidance, this interpretation obviates the need for a Fifth Amendment analysis.

Moreover, the core right of the Fifth Amendment is not violated until a compelled statement is actually introduced at a criminal trial, and longestablished binding precedent protects sex-offense probationers from such introduction regardless of any waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination.

Nor is a prophylactic remedy needed to prevent future incursions of the core right. Clearly-established Supreme Court authority *already* provides appellant *Kastigar*<sup>4</sup> immunity for any incriminating statement elicited during the sex offender management program. Nonetheless, if this court believes that binding precedent from the Supreme Court, and the agreement of the Attorney General, do not provide sex-offense probationers adequate assurance that their compelled statements during treatment will not be used against them in a later criminal prosecution, the court can declare a judicial rule of use and derivative use immunity protecting such disclosures. Such a rule—already applied by this court in similar situations—will ensure that sex offenders on conditional release get the treatment they need in a manner consistent with constitutional protections.

Finally, the limited waivers of the privilege against self-incrimination and psychotherapist-patient privilege are not overbroad or unreasonable. Both conditions are limited in scope and duration, and are directly related to the Legislature's twin aims of ensuring public safety and promoting sex offender rehabilitation.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. APPLYING THE CANON OF CONSTITUTIONAL AVOIDANCE,
THIS COURT SHOULD ADOPT A REASONABLE CONSTRUCTION
OF THE WAIVER THAT AVOIDS THE CONSTITUTIONAL
QUESTION

Appellant first claims that the Court of Appeal "failed to examine the specific language of the provision, rendering an interpretation directly at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Kastigar v. United States (1972) 406 U.S. 441 (Kastigar).

odds with the actual words of the statute." (AOB 5.) In reality, the Court of Appeal followed the dictates of this court and applied a reasonable construction of the waiver provision that avoids any constitutional questions. This application of the canon of constitutional avoidance to effectuate legislative intent should be applieded, not decried.

# A. The Waiver at Issue Serves a Critical Role in California's Evidence-Based Containment Model for Treating and Monitoring Sex Offenders

To understand why a narrow, treatment-specific interpretation of the waiver provision furthers legislative intent, a brief discussion of the statute's legislative history is required. The amendments to section 1203.067 resulted from an extensive legislative review of California's treatment and monitoring of sex offenders on probation and parole. That review reflected widespread and manifest failings in the system: prison and supervision officials lacked a standardized model for diagnosing and treating sex offenders; offenders were participating in uncertified programs; programs were underfunded; and polygraph testing and dynamic violence risk assessment instruments were neither required nor regularly used. (Sen. Com. on Public Safety, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1844 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 2, 2010, pp. A-B, at <a href="http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/09-10/bill/asm/ab-1801-">http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/09-10/bill/asm/ab-1801-</a> 1850/ab 1844 cfa 20100628 141315 sen comm.html> [as of Oct. 9, 2014].) This legislative review of the former system highlighted the need for a "coherent, cohesive or coordinated" sex offender management system to reduce recidivism and protect public safety. (*Id.* at p. A.)

To fill this void, the Legislature established "a standardized, statewide system to identify, assess, monitor and contain known sex offenders for the purpose of reducing the risk of recidivism posed by these offenders, thereby protecting victims and potential victims from future harm." (§ 290.03.) In

adopting this "Containment Model," the Legislature recognized that a grant of probation to a sex offender is a very risky proposition that is appropriate only where those risks can be managed. The two pillars of the model are (1) measures designed to ensure the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by the sex offender to treatment professionals (principally, sexual offense history polygraph examinations), and (2) collaboration and communication between the Containment Team members to allow them to develop an individualized treatment plan and ensure the offender's compliance with the plan. (Sen. Com. on Public Safety, Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 1844 (2009-2010 Reg. Sess.) as amended June 2, 2010, p. B.)

The mandated waiver of a probationer's privilege against selfincrimination and participation in polygraph examinations supports both pillars of the state's Containment Model. With the breakdown of the mythology that "all sex offenders are the same," treatment professionals have recognized that accurate risk assessment and diagnosis are prerequisites to effective treatment. Before the 2011 amendments to section 1203.067, therapists and probation officers had to rely solely on the offense of conviction and the offender's voluntary disclosures to assess the risk posed by the offender and to design a treatment and monitoring program that would help the probationer and keep the community safe. This presented problems when the offense of conviction was not an accurate representation of the offender's criminal behavior and proclivities. (See McKune v. Lile (2002) 536 U.S. 24, 33 (Lile) ["an important component of [sex offender] rehabilitation programs requires participants to confront their past and accept responsibility for their misconduct"].) "Denial is generally regarded as a main impediment to successful therapy," and "[t]herapists depend on offenders' truthful descriptions of events leading to past offences in order to determine which behaviours need to be

targeted in therapy." (H. Barbaree, *Denial and Minimization Among Sex Offenders: Assessment and Treatment Outcome*, 3 Forum on Corrections Research (1991) No. 4, p. 30, quoted in *Lile*, *supra*, 536 U.S. at p. 33.) "Research indicates that offenders who deny all allegations of sexual abuse are three times more likely to fail in treatment than those who admit even partial complicity." (*Lile*, *supra*, 536 U.S. at p. 33, citing B. Maletzky & K. McGovern, Treating the Sexual Offender (1991) pp. 253-255.)

If, for example, prior undisclosed acts involved victims of a different age or gender, or involved different types of abusive contact than the offense of conviction, the treatment and monitoring program developed for that offender might not be adequately tailored to the offender's true risk profile. The mandated waiver in amended section 1203.067 directly addresses this problem by allowing treatment professionals to insist that sex offenders disclose their sex offense histories and to verify the accuracy and completeness of the probationer's responses. (See *People v. Miller* (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d 1311, 1315 (*Miller*) ["polygraphs are commonly used" in sex offender treatment programs and "help[] to monitor compliance" with probation conditions].)<sup>5</sup> The results of these examinations are then used by the treatment team to develop an accurate risk profile and monitoring plan to prevent recidivism and ensure public safety. (See *People v. Gonzalez* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 353, 377 ["The effectiveness of the [C]ontainment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "In the context of postconviction sexual offender treatment, a polygraph examination is used to obtain a lifetime sexual history of the offender as a part of a comprehensive psychosexual evaluation, monitor compliance with treatment and supervision requirements, and to focus on a specific allegation or behavior." (*In re Jordan R.* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 111, 138, fn. 17, citing English, *The Containment Approach: An Aggressive Strategy for the Community Management of Adult Sex Offenders* (1998) 4 Psychol. Pub. Pol'y & L. 218, 228-230.)

[M]odel of sex offender management depends upon open and ongoing communication between all professionals responsible for supervising, assessing, evaluating, treating, supporting, and monitoring sex offenders"].)

# B. The Canon of Constitutional Avoidance Applies Where a Permissible Construction of the Statute Avoids the Constitutional Question

This court and the United States Supreme Court have frequently held that where "the terms of a statute are by fair and reasonable interpretation capable of a meaning consistent with the requirements of the Constitution, the statute will be given that meaning, rather than another in conflict with the Constitution." (San Francisco Unified Sch. Dist. v. Johnson (1971) 3 Cal.3d 937, 948.) "The basis of this rule is the presumption that the Legislature intended, not to violate the Constitution, but to enact a valid statute within the scope of its constitutional powers." (People v. Superior Court (Romero) (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 509; see also United States ex rel. Attv. Gen. v. Delaware & Hudson Co. (1909) 213 U.S. 366, 407-408 I"where a statute is susceptible of two constructions, by one of which grave and doubtful constitutional questions arise and by the other of which such questions are avoided, our duty is to adopt the latter"].) Application of the avoidance canon is particularly appropriate when the statute can be saved simply by incorporating binding precedent already in effect when the Legislature enacted the law. (See Reidy v. City & County of San Francisco (2004) 123 Cal.App.4th 580, 591 ["courts do not presume the Legislature intended to overthrow long-established principles of law unless it makes its intention to do so clear, either by express declaration or necessary implication"].)

C. The Waiver Provision at Issue Is Best Understood as a Narrow, Context-Specific Waiver Solely for Probation Supervision and Treatment

Here, the "waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination" in amended section 1203.067 can be reasonably interpreted to avoid any constitutional question regarding the admission of compelled statements at a later criminal trial. In fact, the historical context, the plain language, and the positioning of the waiver all indicate that the Legislature intended to limit invocation of the privilege against self-incrimination only in the narrow context of probation supervision and treatment. These factors also show that the Legislature did not purport to strip sex offenders of their privilege against self-incrimination in any other context or to curb their right to object to the admission of compelled statements in later *criminal* proceedings.

First, by the time the Legislature amended section 1203.067 in 2010, over 25 years of unchallenged high court authority held that an arrestee's or probationer's compelled statements could not be introduced against them in a later criminal proceeding. (See *Murphy*, *supra*, 465 U.S. at p. 435.)

Nothing in the text of the statute or its legislative history suggests that the Legislature intended to eliminate or limit that well-established federal constitutional protection—a change which a state legislature is powerless to make anyway. Thus, the presumption that the Legislature understood the existing legal framework and did not intend to impliedly overrule established principles of law is fully applicable to amended section 1203.067. (See *Reidy*, *supra*, 123 Cal.App.4th at p. 591.)

Second, the positioning and language of the amendments indicate that the Legislature was focused solely on probation supervision and treatment and did not intend to alter the evidentiary landscape for criminal proceedings or strip probationers of any *trial* rights. To begin, the waiver at issue was added to section 1203, which governs the imposition and management of probation. Moreover, amended section 1203.067 details the creation of a "sex offender management program" and ties each new

requirement for sex-offense probationers to the furtherance of that program. Specifically, the required waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination and participation in polygraph examinations are limited by the qualifying language that they are "part of the sex offender management program." (§ 1203.067, subd. (b)(3).)<sup>6</sup> The statute does not purport to prohibit a probationer from exercising his privilege against self-incrimination *outside* the context of the sex offender management program, nor were amendments made to the Evidence or Penal Codes concerning any evidentiary consequences of the mandated waiver at a later criminal trial. (See *Frost v. City of Los Angeles* (1919) 181 Cal. 22, 30 [in granting citizens a particular cause of action, "it must be presumed that the Legislature did not intend to change in any other respect the principles of equity" relating to that area of law].)

Given the legal backdrop for the amendments to section 1203.067, and the placement and language of the provision, the waiver of any privilege against self-incrimination is best understood as limited to the probation context. Because that narrow interpretation is just as reasonable (if not more so) as appellant's proposed interpretation—which would have the Legislature impliedly stripping federal constitutional rights from probationers—this court should resolve the case through application of the avoidance canon. (See *PDK Labs. Inc. v. DEA* (D.C. Cir. 2004) 362 F.3d 786, 799 (conc. opn. of Roberts, J.) ["This is a sufficient ground for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In arguing that the Court of Appeal misread the statute by limiting its application to the probation context, appellant uses an ellipsis to remove the phrase "which shall be part of the sex offender management program." (AOB 6.) It goes without saying that statutes must be analyzed as a whole and as actually enacted, rather than as edited or wished to be by appellant.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Parallel language was added in section 3008, subdivision (d), for sex offense parolees. That provision likewise does not contemplate any abandonment of trial or evidentiary rights.

deciding this case, and the cardinal principle of judicial restraint—if it is not necessary to decide more, it is necessary not to decide more—counsels us to go no further."].) Accordingly, the Court of Appeal's judgment should be affirmed.

## II. THE CHALLENGED PROBATION CONDITION HAS NOT, AND WILL NEVER, RESULT IN A FIFTH AMENDMENT VIOLATION

Even if this court chooses to address the constitutional question on the merits, appellant's claim must fail. Because the Fifth Amendment is not violated until a compelled statement is actually introduced at a criminal trial, and long-established binding precedent protects sex-offense probationers from such introduction regardless of any waiver of the privilege against self-incrimination, the mandated waiver does not violate the Fifth Amendment.

# A. Merely Eliciting an Incriminating Statement Does Not Violate the Core Fifth Amendment Right

The Fifth Amendment provides that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." However, "[a]s both this court and the United States Supreme Court have made clear, the Fifth Amendment does not directly prohibit the government from *eliciting* self-incriminating disclosures despite the declarant's invocation of the Fifth Amendment privilege." (*Maldonado v. Superior Court* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1112, 1127 (*Maldonado*).) Instead, "this constitutional provision simply bars the direct or derivative *use* of such officially compelled disclosures to convict or criminally punish the person from whom they were obtained." (*Ibid.*)

Chavez v. Martinez (2003) 538 U.S. 760 (Chavez) reflects how the rule operates. Chavez was a civil action involving the question whether a police officer who allegedly compelled statements from the plaintiff-arrestee could be held liable for violating the plaintiff's Fifth Amendment

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